Filed 12-15-2023

Page 1 of 31

FILED 12-15-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2021AP001590

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

ANTONIO G. RAMIREZ, JR.,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ANDREW R. HINKEL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1058128

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1779 hinkela@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Antonio Ramirez

INTRODUCTION

Almost 25 years ago, the state put Antonio Ramirez on trial, alleging two violent sexual assaults of his young stepdaughter, M.G. But M.G. didn't testify. Nor did her brother, who the state said had witnessed an assault. Instead, the state introduced the children's claimed statements—including statements to the police—through other witnesses.

Ramirez was convicted. During his direct appeal, the Supreme Court remade the law of confrontation in *Crawford v. Washington*. Ramirez's then-appellate counsel didn't raise *Crawford*; so in 2020 the Seventh Circuit affirmed a habeas corpus grant and ordered new postconviction proceedings.

Ramirez moved the circuit court for a new trial. That court granted the motion on the ground that the first trial violated the Confrontation Clause, and also because Ramirez had been wrongly prevented from informing the jury that one state's witness had received immunity in exchange for his testimony.

The state appealed. The Wisconsin court of appeals declared that the Seventh Circuit "went astray" in its analysis, and reversed the trial court. The focus of the court of appeals' analysis was incriminating statements Mr. Ramirez's stepdaughter made at the hospital in the presence of her mother, a nurse, and a police officer.

Case 2021AP001590 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 4 of 31

Courts nationwide have struggled to apply *Crawford* and its progeny to statements made in this sort of dual-purpose setting: a medical evaluation conducted at the behest of, and sometimes with the participation of, police officers investigating a crime. Are such statements "testimonial," such that they implicate the Confrontation Clause? In both federal and state courts, the analyses and results are all over the board.

Here, though, the court of appeals did not engage with the tricky issues inherent in a joint medical/forensic interview. It simply employed a rubric this Court developed in a case about a toxicologist's report: *State v. Mattox*, 2017 WI 9, 373 Wis. 2d 122, 890 N.W.2d 256.

The four *Mattox* factors proved a poor analytical tool here. For example, the court of appeals spent a substantial portion of its scant discussion observing that the hospital conversation—which was, of course, conducted orally—was not "notarized." (Neither, of course, are most police interrogations, though they undoubtedly produce testimonial statements.)

The panel also recommended its opinion for publication. So unless this Court acts, Wisconsin's binding law on the vexed question of hospital/police interviews will be a brief gloss on an ill-fitting test. This Court should step in to give the question the analysis it deserves. It should also decide how to assess prejudice when a defendant is wrongly kept from exploring a witness's immunity grant.

Case 2021AP001590 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 5 of 31

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. After M.G.'s mother contacted police and accused Antonio Ramirez of assaulting M.G., an officer told the mother they "had to go" to the hospital for an examination, and drove them there in his squad. Were M.G.'s accusations in the hospital—made in the presence of, and with some participation by, the police officer, along with her mother and a nurse—testimonial?

The circuit court held they were testimonial, and granted a new trial. The court of appeals held most were not, and reversed. This court should hold the accusations were testimonial.

2. While preparing to try Ramirez, the prosecutor summoned a doctor who'd treated the alleged victim to his office and, per the doctor, "subtly" threatened him with criminal charges. The state then granted the doctor immunity in exchange for his testimony, and the circuit court barred Ramirez from exposing this fact to the jury. The concedes Ramirez entitled state was introduce the fact that the prosecution and the doctor had entered into this quid pro quo. Has the state proved beyond a reasonable doubt that this error didn't prejudice Ramirez?

The circuit court granted a new trial on this ground as well. The court of appeals held any error harmless. This Court should reverse the court of appeals and order a new trial.

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

As courts around the country have recognized, the testimonial nature of statements made to police *and* health care providers, or health care providers who assist in criminal investigation, presents a real, significant and knotty question of federal constitutional law. *See* Wis. Stat. Rule 809.62(1r)(a).

The decision below, though 52 pages long, contains only a few paragraphs of discussion of the issue. State v. Antonio Ramirez, 2021AP1590, ¶¶75-83 (Ct. App Nov. 15, 2023); App. 38-45. As noted above, this discussion relies chiefly on State v. Mattox, 2017 WI 9, 373 Wis. 2d 122, 890 N.W.2d 256, which presented very different facts. The court of appeals' other recent foray into this area, State v. Nelson, 2021 WI App 2, 395 Wis. 2d 585, 954 N.W.2d 11, generated three different opinions (a plurality, a concurrence, and a dissent) from the three judges on the panel. Thus, this Court's decision will help to clarify this important and fairly novel area of law. See Wis. Stat. Rule 809.62(1r)(c).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The trial

On Labor Day 1999, Ramirez's wife, Cynthia, contacted police to report that she thought her husband had sexually assaulted her daughter. (551:126). When Police Officer George Larsen

Case 2021AP001590 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 7 of 31

responded, Cynthia told him that she and Ramirez had had a holiday gathering that day and, when it was over, she drove a relative home. (551:127). Upon returning home, Cynthia said, she found the door locked; she broke into the house and saw Ramirez walking out of M.G.'s bedroom, pulling up his shorts. (551:127). Cynthia said that she found M.G. in a bathroom, on the toilet, looking upset, and that Cynthia's son, A.R., told her that Ramirez had been with M.G. on her bed. (551:127-28). Officer Larsen further testified that Cynthia reported that she accused Ramirez of molesting M.G., which led to a physical fight between the two of them. (551:128). Cynthia also said Ramirez had choked their son. (551:132). Cynthia took the children to her mother's house and called the police. (551:126-27).

Upon receiving this report, Officer Larsen initiated a sexual-assault investigation and arranged for Ramirez to be immediately arrested on the domestic-violence complaint. (551:138). Larsen then drove Cynthia and M.G. to the hospital, in his squad car, for further questioning and a sexual-assault examination. Id.; see also 463:60 (Cynthia testifying that she was told they "had to go" to the hospital for the examination). Once at the hospital, Officer Larsen had Cynthia and M.G. meet with Nurse Donna Karpowicz-Halpin, along with himself, so that M.G. could "be examined for a sexual assault." (462:97; 551:129). Immediately after the examination, the nurse would report to law enforcement everything that had occurred in the examination room (while Officer Larsen was in the room and not), including what M.G.

Case 2021AP001590 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 8 of 31

had told her. She would also turn over physical evidence and, later, testify at trial about these matters. (462:98; 491).

Nurse Karpowicz-Halpin testified that she began her examination of M.G. by conducting normal medical checks (she listened to M.G.'s lungs, etc.) and asking about school— "you know, just to build a rapport." (462:100-101). Then the nurse asked M.G. what had happened. *Id.* She asked questions like: "where this happened." (462:102). She testified that M.G. responded that she'd been laying on her bed, in her bedroom, when Ramirez had put his "pee-pee by her butt . . . on top of her." *Id*. Afterward, she went to the bathroom and wiped herself with toilet paper and threw it in the wastebasket. (462:103). Officer Larsen was involved with this questioning. (551:130). He offered M.G. a stuffed bear to get her to clarify precisely where on her body Ramirez had touched her. Id. Then he stepped outside the examination room to tell an "evidence tech" that they should collect evidence from the bathroom. Id.

At some point, an ER doctor joined the examination, with the nurse and Cynthia remaining. (551:21-22). It is not entirely clear whether Officer Larsen was involved with questioning once the doctor arrived; he testified that he left the room when M.G. had to get undressed, but it's not clear when that happened, or whether and when he returned. (551:132-33). The ER doctor, Suzanne Siegel, testified that she asked M.G. "very specific questions" about what happened. (551:23). In response, M.G. told her

Case 2021AP001590 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 9 of 31

the same story she'd told the nurse. *Id.* Dr. Siegel examined M.G., noting that there was redness and discharge around her vagina, but no injury and no semen. (551:24,30-31; *see also* 462:108-110). There was suspected semen on her thighs. (551:32). According to "a rape protocol," the examiners collected evidence: M.G.'s clothing and swabs from her body. (551:108-09). This went into a "rape kit" that was sent to the crime lab. (551:33).

While Dr. the Siegel was in room, Nurse Karpowicz-Halpin elicited statements about another, earlier sexual assault, alleged to have occurred in 1998. Nurse Karpowicz-Halpin asked M.G. if the Labor Day 1999 incident was the only time something like this had happened. (462:103). The nurse testified that M.G. responded negatively, after which Cynthia prompted M.G. to talk about a vaginal injury that M.G. had been treated for in 1998. Cynthia asked if that injury had resulted from Ramirez assaulting her, rather than falling in the bathtub, as everyone had believed. (462:104). M.G. said yes: Ramirez had caused the injury, by trying to put his penis inside her. *Id.* The nurse asked M.G. why she hadn't told anyone before, and M.G. responded that Ramirez had threatened that if she did, he would harm her mom, brother, or grandmother. (462:104-05).

Again, the record is not clear whether Officer Larsen was in the examination room when M.G. made statements about an earlier assault. However, it at least appears that he was out of the room at the time because Officer Larsen testified at

Case 2021AP001590 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 10 of 31

trial that Cynthia later told him what M.G. said in the examination room about the 1998 incident. (551:130-31). Another officer, Detective John Gregory, questioned Cynthia at the hospital and he testified that she also told him about M.G.'s examination-room accusation. (551:162-63).

The next day, Detective Gregory conducted questioning of Cynthia, M.G.. M.G.'s brother. (551:167). This questioning happened at the police station. (551:164). Detective Gregory testified that M.G. made statements similar to those she'd made to Officer Larsen and the examiners the previous day about both alleged incidents. (551:173-75,188). As for the brother, Detective Gregory said he told him about the fight that had occurred the previous day (Ramirez would be acquitted of all counts related to that fight) and also said that Ramirez had gone into the bedroom with M.G. with his shorts off. (551:175-78). The brother said that, later. "white boogers" on M.G.'s bed. (551:178-79).

Other than the out-of-court statements described above, the state did not have additional evidence directly supporting M.G.'s version of events. It presented other evidence at trial, including DNA evidence related to the 1999 incident. A forensic scientist with the state's crime lab testified that swabs that the sexual-assault examiners took from M.G.'s thighs and from her underwear revealed semen that DNA testing showed matched Ramirez. (463:107). The crime lab also tested toilet paper found in the wastebasket, which revealed Ramirez's DNA.

Case 2021AP001590 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 11 of 31

Id. They tested a swab from M.G.'s external vaginal area that revealed a small amount of DNA that likely, but with less certainty, came from Ramirez. (463:103,109-110).

At trial, Cynthia testified that she had lied to police, and coached her children to lie, in order to frame Ramirez for sexual assault. Cynthia told the jury that after their Labor Day party, she was angry that Ramirez had gotten very drunk in front of her family and she suspected him of infidelity. (463:64-68; 551:85-89). She wanted Ramirez to go to jail, so she made up the story of the assault. (463:68,76-78; 551:92-94). In truth, she testified, she had not seen Ramirez pulling up his shorts when she got back from dropping off her uncle; Ramirez was passed-out drunk, and the children were watching TV. (463:60-64). Indeed, Cynthia testified that Ramirez hadn't worn shorts that day; she and other relatives testified that he'd worn pants. (463:63; 563:45,58). Ramirez's brother, who lived with Ramirez and his family at the time, testified that he was at a friend's house during the Labor Day party, but he returned home in the evening to find Ramirez passed-out drunk, the children watching TV, and Cynthia reheating food. (563:97,105-06).Cynthia "had an attitude something." (563:106). Ramirez's brother then left and didn't come back until the next day. (563:106-07).

Cynthia claimed she had not planted DNA evidence. (551:93). However, defense counsel at trial elicited evidence that Ramirez and Cynthia had sex on the morning of Labor Day, with a condom, and

Case 2021AP001590 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 12 of 31

threw the used condom in the garbage. (551:79,116). Defense counsel argued to the jury that Cynthia had confessed her scheme at trial, but hadn't been able to admit her worst transgression: planting DNA evidence. (552:63–66).

The immunity grant

for Asthe 1998 incident, there was no DNA evidence. Dr. Schellpfeffer testified that M.G. had presented at the hospital with a vaginal tear that required stitches. (551:142-44). M.G. and Cynthia told the doctor that M.G. had fallen in the bathtub and injured herself, and said she hadn't been abused. (551:145-46,172). The hospital did a pap smear and found no semen. (551:160). Dr. Schellpfeffer said the injuries were "consistent" with sexual abuse but could have other causes. (551:145,148-50). No one including Dr. Schellpfeffer—reported the injury as suspicious. However, he testified—after his grant of immunity from the state—that he was so concerned about the possibility that he had twice asked Cynthia M.G. could have been whether (551:136,137,142). He further claimed he called M.G.'s pediatrician days later to alert him to the possibility. (551:144).

At a pretrial hearing, Dr. Schellpfeffer had testified that, before the preliminary hearing, he had been summoned to meet with the prosecutor. (17:4). He said he had felt "subtly intimidated" during the meeting; he said the prosecutor did not "overtly" accuse him of a criminal act, but gave his "opinion that

Case 2021AP001590 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 13 of 31

I might be culpable" of failing to report a sexual assault. (17:9). This is a crime under Wis. Stat. § 48.981(6), and the doctor agreed that the prosecutor had "subtly implied [he] could be prosecuted." (17:9). Dr. Schellpfeffer was concerned enough to contact his personal attorney, who represented him at this pretrial hearing. (17:2,9).

At a subsequent hearing, the state noted that it had conferred immunity on Dr. Schellpfeffer for his testimony. (460:25). The state claimed that the law prohibited Ramirez's counsel from "mak[ing] any reference to the fact that Dr. Schellpfeffer [had] been afforded immunity from prosecution." *Id.* Ramirez objected, arguing that the threat of prosecution and grant of immunity could have put pressure on the doctor to alter his testimony to suit the state. (460:26-28). The prosecutor claimed that *State v. Heft*, 185 Wis. 2d 288, 517 N.W. 2d 494 (1994), required that the immunity grant be kept from the jury, and the court ultimately agreed and ordered the defense to refrain from asking about it. (460:28,29,35,37).

Ramirez was found guilty of the counts related to the alleged sexual assaults. He was acquitted of all the other counts related to the alleged altercation with Cynthia and the children and resisting the police. (552:114-15).

Case 2021AP001590 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 14 of 31

The appeals and subsequent proceedings

Ramirez sought an appeal. His first counsel filed a no-merit report, which the court of appeals ultimately rejected. *See State v. Antonio G. Ramirez, Jr.*, No. 2003AP2038 (Order of Dec. 7, 2004).

During the pendency of the no-merit proceeding, the Supreme Court decided *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), which dramatically altered the law regarding the Confrontation Clause. Ramirez was appointed new counsel, who litigated a number of unsuccessful claims. But despite urging from Ramirez—which is documented in the record—counsel did not raise any confrontation claims based on *Crawford*. (571:18,21). The court of appeals affirmed his convictions. *See State v. Antonio G. Ramirez*, No. 2005AP2768, unpublished slip op. (Apr. 25, 2007).

Ramirez, now pro se, filed a Wis. Stat. § 974.06 postconviction relief. alleging motion postconviction and appellate counsel had been ineffective for failing to raise a confrontation claim. The circuit court denied the motion, holding that Crawford did not apply to his trial. On appeal, the state took this position as well, saying that Whorton v. Bockting, 549 U.S. 406 (2007), which declined to apply Crawford in collateral attacks on convictions that were final before Crawford was issued, barred relief. State v. Antonio G. Ramirez, Jr., No. 2013AP563 (Respondent's Brief at 17). The court of appeals agreed and affirmed the circuit court. State υ. Antonio G. Ramirez, Jr., No. 2013AP563, unpublished slip op. (Mar. 26, 2014).

Ramirez then petitioned the federal courts for relief. The district court first held the court of appeals' reliance on *Whorton* to be an unreasonable application of clearly established federal law, because Ramirez's case was on direct appeal, not collateral review, when *Crawford* was decided. *Ramirez v. Tegels*, 2018 WL 6251349, at *6 (W.D. Wis. Nov. 29, 2018). It accordingly ordered briefing on the merits.

conclusion of this briefing, the district court held that postconviction counsel had been ineffective for failing to raise a confrontation claim. The state had argued, among other things, that a confrontation claim would not succeed on the merits because various of the introduced statements were nontestimonial. The state relied on *Ohio v. Clark*, 576 U.S. 237 (2015), arguing that the children's youth placed their hearsay outside the Confrontation Clause. The court rejected this argument, noting crucial differences between this case and Clark: Ramirez had been arrested, so there was no ongoing emergency; many of the statements were elicited by police officers (rather than, as in *Clark*, a teacher); and some of the crucial questions to M.G. concerned an incident from the year before, suggesting an intent "to establish events potentially relevant to prosecution." Ramirez v. Tegels, 413 F. Supp. 3d 808, 820-21 (W.D. Wis. 2019). The court also rejected the state's argument that the other evidence against Case 2021AP001590 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 16 of 31

Ramirez was "overwhelming," such that a confrontation violation could not matter. *Id.* at 822-23.

The state appealed, and a three-judge panel of the Seventh Circuit unanimously affirmed. Ramirez v. Tegels, 963 F.3d 604 (7th Cir. 2020); App. 66-91. Like the lower court, it concluded that many of M.G.'s statements in the emergency room were "more likely... made for the primary purpose of 'prov[ing] past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution." Id. at 616 (quoting Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 822 (2006)); App. 82. As to prejudice, like the lower court, the Seventh Circuit concluded that Ramirez "[t]he evidence against Mr.not overwhelming if the contested statements are excluded." Id. at 618; App. 90.

The Seventh Circuit ordered that Ramirez be released or receive a new appeal; on the state's motion, his Wis. Stat. Rule 809.30 rights were reinstated. He filed a postconviction motion raising the confrontation claims. (5839-13). He also challenged the trial court's refusal to permit him to cross Dr. Schellpfeffer on the immunity grant as a violation of due process. (583:13-14). After additional briefing and argument by Ramirez and the state, the circuit court granted a new trial on both counts.

Regarding the confrontation violations, the court said that

M.G.'s statements to Larsen and Karpowicz-Halpin regarding M.G. going to the bathroom and wiping herself are clearly Case 2021AP001590 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 17 of 31

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