FILED 02-05-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

Filed 02-05-2024

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2021AP1590-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

ANTONIO G. RAMIREZ, JR.,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1606 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) wittwerjj@doj.state.wi.us

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

C. The ER examination was not a "joint medical/criminal investigation," and this case is a poor vehicle for this Court to address the issue of whether statements made in such investigations are testimonial.

Ramirez casts the ER examination of Megan as a "joint medical/criminal investigation" like that of a SANE nurse's examination of a sexual assault victim. (Pet. 19–23.) He asserts that statements obtained during such joint investigations "present thorny confrontation issues," and that this Court is the proper court to address such issues. (Pet. 19–23.) He suggests that, despite the length of the court of appeals' decision, its analysis was insufficient to address the complexities of this issue. (Pet. 6, 22–23.)

But the ER nurse's and doctor's medical examination of Megan was not, as Ramirez claims, a "joint medical/criminal investigation" and is distinguishable from such "joint" investigations. The court of appeals did not address the difficult issues of such investigations because they are not presented here, and this case is the wrong vehicle in which to address them.

All the cases Ramirez cites in discussing "joint medical/criminal investigatory statements" of crime victims involve examinations by medical professionals for whom investigating crimes and evidence collection is a primary job responsibility, like SANE nurses⁶ and child welfare

⁶ A SANE nurse is a sexual assault forensic examiner with specialized training from the Wisconsin Department of Justice to

Filed 02-05-2024

advocates. See State v. Nelson, 2021 WI App 2, 395 Wis. 2d 585, 954 N.W.2d 11 (SANE nurse); State v. Cannon, 254 S.W.3d 287 (Tenn. 2008) (same); Hartsfield v. Com., 277 S.W.3d 239 (Ky. 2009) (same); State v. Stahl, 855 N.E.2d 834 (Ohio 2006) (SANE-like nurse practitioner with evidence collection duties); Bobadilla v. Carlson, 575 F.3d 785 (8th Cir. 2009) (social worker employed by family services agency); State v. Arnold, 933 N.E.2d 775 (social worker in child advocacy center); State v. Hooper, 176 P.3d 911 (Idaho 2007) (nurse and forensic examiner).

None of Ramirez's cited cases closely resemble the facts of this case, which demonstrate that the ER examination was a medical examination, not a joint medical/criminal investigation for the following reasons.

First, the ER nurse and doctor were emergency room medical providers, not SANE nurses with the dual mission of providing medical care and investigation, or child welfare advocates with investigatory responsibilities and limited medical training.

Second, Megan had an acute need for immediate medical treatment at the time. Ramirez suggests that she had no need for medical treatment because she had no apparent

"perform the medical forensic exam, gather information for the medical forensic history, collect and document forensic evidence, and document pertinent physical findings from patients." Wisconsin Department of Justice, "Sexual Assault Nurse Program," doj.state.wi.us/dies/sexual-assault-nurse-Examiner examiner-program (accessed February 2, 2024). Among a SANE nurse's express functions is to collect evidence for use in criminal prosecutions. See State v. Nelson, 2021 WI App 2, ¶ 42, 395 Wis. 2d 585, 954 N.W.2d 11. Of course, the State does not concede here that a victim's statements to a SANE nurse are testimonial. The point is only that Megan's medical examination wasn't a "joint medical/criminal investigation"; the ER providers who conducted the medical exam were not SANE nurses with express investigatory job responsibilities.

"physical injuries." (Pet. 23–24.) But Cynthia suspected and Megan (and then DNA evidence) confirmed that Ramirez had sexually assaulted her earlier that night. Even though the officer drove the mother and child to the ER, a medical facility was the only reasonable place for Megan to be at the time. That Megan needed immediate medical care is another ground that distinguishes this case from two of the cases Ramirez cites. See Bobadilla, 575 F.3d at 787 (exam by social worker occurred five days after the assault); Arnold, 933 N.E.2d. at 777 (exam was the day after the assault).

Third, the trial record shows that the responding officer had little to no involvement in the ER nurse's and doctor's examination of Megan. Granted, the officer was present for some portion of the exam. (Pet-App. 5.) But neither the nurse nor the doctor even mentioned in trial testimony the officer's presence in the room, much less said that he was involved in or directed the examination. (R. 462:96–105; 551:21–31.) While the responding officer testified that he used a Teddy bear to have Megan show where Ramirez touched her (Pet-App. 5), this account was not repeated by the medical providers. Both the nurse and doctor had their own, detailed accounts of how Cynthia and Megan disclosed the assaults to them during the medical examination, and these accounts did not involve the officer. (R. 462:96–105; 551:21–31.)

Fourth, even if the officer had some further involvement in the medical examination not disclosed by the record, it is undisputed (Pet. 9–10) that he had left the room (R. 551:130) by the time Megan disclosed to her mother and the nurse that the vaginal injury she suffered in 1998 was caused by Ramirez's penis-to-vagina assault, not by a bathtub fall. And the nurse's question that elicited the disclosure, "if this was the first time something like this had happened," was a part of her duty to ascertain the child's history relevant to the circumstances for which she was receiving treatment. (Pet-App. 7.) As the court of appeals explained: "Specific to child

sexual abuse, when a child presents with alleged sexual abuse, certainly it is important for the medical provider to know if, how, and when the child may have been abused before in order to properly address the child's present physical and psychological health." (Pet-App. 44.) "It would be a poor medical professional indeed who upon a patient presenting medical complaints did not inquire about relevant history." (Pet-App. 45.)

Finally, the fact that the officer drove the child and mother to the ER and had an investigatory purpose in doing so did not transform the ER medical examination into a "joint medical/criminal investigation" like those Ramirez seeks to link his case to. Again, Megan needed to be seen by a medical professional, no matter who drove her there. The officer's interaction with Megan in the hospital appears to have been limited to the brief "Teddy bear" interview. (R. 551:130–32.) From the medical providers' accounts, which do not mention the officer's presence, it appears that this interaction did not involve them. (R. 462:96–105; 551:21–31.)

And the officer had left the exam room by the time Megan made the disclosure that led to the two counts on the violent 1998 assault.

For these reasons, the ER medical examination was not a "joint medical/criminal investigation," and it does not raise the perhaps closer questions associated with such investigations. Review of this case will not resolve the "thorny" issues of whether statements to SANE nurses and child advocacy center workers implicate the Confrontation Clause. This case has much narrower application—and the court of appeals' decision carefully and correctly resolved the confrontation issues in this case.

D. The Court should deny review because Ramirez's claims may be resolved on harmless error grounds.

Like Ramirez, the State asks this Court to consider harmless error in deciding whether to take review. An error is harmless if it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 49, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189 (citation omitted). Harmless error has broader application to his case than Ramirez admits, and this is another reason why this case is the wrong vehicle to address the issues raised in his petition.

Harmless error as to the 1999 assault counts

The State disputes Ramirez's assertion that "harmless error does not enter the picture" unless this Court concludes that Megan's statements in the hospital were not testimonial. (Pet. 18.) Of course, the State believes and the court of appeals properly concluded that Megan's statements to the ER nurse and doctor during the medical examination were not testimonial. (Pet-App. 40–45.)

But even if *all* of Megan's statements in the medical exam were testimonial, and even if, as the court of appeals assumed without deciding, that her statements and her younger brother's statement to law enforcement were also testimonial, the error in admitting these statements would still be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt regarding one of the two sets of charges.

As to the counts of first-degree sexual assault of a child and child enticement stemming from the 1999 assault, these two counts were proven by DNA evidence showing that Ramirez's semen and sperm cells were found on Megan's private areas and underwear. (Pet-App. 31, 47 n.14.) Additionally, admissible evidence—Cynthia's statements to law enforcement on the night of the assault—was presented

at trial that explained when, where, and how Ramirez assaulted Megan. (Pet-App. 4–5.) Moreover, the defense had no plausible explanation for how Ramriez's semen and sperm cells were found on Megan's body. Despite Cynthia's testimony that she made up Megan's allegations of assault, Cynthia repeatedly testified that she did not plant her husband's semen on Megan's privates. (Pet-App. 24, 48 n.15.) Collectively, this evidence demonstrates that, even if Megan's statements to medical providers and law enforcement were testimonial and thus inadmissible, the error in admitting these statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Harmless error as to the 1998 assault counts

Likewise, as to the counts of first-degree sexual assault with great bodily harm and first-degree sexual assault of a child stemming from the 1998 assault, not all of Megan's statements to the ER nurse and doctor need to be nontestimonial for harmless error to apply.

Even if this Court were to assume that Megan's statements made when the officer was in the examination room were testimonial, everyone agrees that the officer was not in the room when Megan disclosed to her mother and the nurse that Ramirez caused her 1998 vaginal injury by raping her. (Pet. 9–10.) As discussed, the nurse asked Megan if this was the first time this had happened so as to obtain relevant medical history from Megan and to uncover the extent of her physical and emotional injuries. Had the officer asked the question, its purpose would have been different. But he wasn't there, and nothing in the record suggests that the nurse asked the question on the officer's direction. Megan's response to the nurse's question was not testimonial.

The evidence that Megan's injuries were caused by Ramirez raping her and not a bathtub fall was supported by common sense and medical expert testimony. As the court of appeals explained, the medical record evidence described a two- to two-and-a-half centimeter cut to the eight-year-old's lower vagina and perineum resembling an episiotomy. (Pet-App. 32.) Three medical experts testified that the injury was consistent with a penetrative assault, not the bathtub fall the family had reported. (Pet-App. 9–10, 31–35.) The defense presented no expert testimony that the injuries could have been caused by a straddle impact onto the edge of the tub.

Once Megan told her mother and the nurse that Ramirez caused the injury by forcing his "pee-pee" into her, the bathtub fall story was no longer plausible. (Pet-App. 53.) Thus, even if error, admission of Megan's statements to law enforcement about the 1998 assault—which duplicated Megan's statement to the nurse—and Megan's statements to medical personnel while the officer was present in the room were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

In sum, the court of appeals applied harmless error only to admission of the statements to law enforcement after concluding that Megan's statements to medical providers in the examination were nontestimonial. But the record shows that, even if error, admission of *all* the statements to medical professionals as to the 1999 assault counts, and all of the statements except Megan's disclosure to the nurse of the cause of her vaginal injuries as to the 1998 assault counts was harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. Because Ramirez's claims may be resolved by application of harmless error, this Court should decline review.

E. The court of appeals correctly applied *Mattox*'s four-factor test in concluding that Megan's statements to the ER nurse and doctor were not testimonial.

In Mattox, this Court relied on Ohiov. Clark in adopting a four-factor test for determining whether a statement is testimonial. 373 Wis. 2d 122, ¶ 32. These factors are: (1) the formality of the situation producing the statement, (2)

whether the declarant makes the statement to law enforcement, (3) the age of the declarant, and (4) the context in which the declarant makes the statement. *Id.* The court of appeals reasonably and correctly applied this test in concluding that Megan's statements to the ER nurse and doctor in being treated for a sexual assault were not testimonial.

First, the court concluded that the statements and setting—those of an eight-year-old patient made to medical providers in connection with an ER examination—were informal, and thus more likely to be nontestimonial. (Pet-App. 41.) Second, Megan's statements were not made to law enforcement, and therefore were more likely nontestimonial. (Pet-App. 41.) Third, Megan's age also suggested that her statements were nontestimonial because an eight-year-old probably would not know that her statements to a doctor and a nurse in an exam might be used later to prosecute someone, relying on principles in Clark. (Pet-App. 41–42.) Fourth and finally, the court concluded that the context of the statements—an ER medical examination of an eight-year-old child for a sexual assault occurring earlier that night—also indicated that the statements were nontestimonial, citing Giles, 554 U.S. at 376 ("[S]tatements to physicians in the course of receiving treatment' generally will not be precluded by the Confrontation Clause.") (Pet-App. 43.) "Megan made her statements in an ER to two medical professionals who were clearly showing concern for her health and providing her with care," the court explained. (Pet-App. 43.) "Megan, and any other eight-year-old girl in her position, would have answered their questions believing that by doing so she was facilitating their efforts to address her health needs." (Pet-App. 43.)

The court rejected Ramirez's argument that Megan's statements in the ER were made for the primary purpose of gathering evidence against Ramirez because the nurse put

down in writing Megan's statements about the assaults and turned the document over to police. (Pet-App. 42 n.10.) The court properly concluded that this act—which ensured the nurse's compliance with her legal duty as a mandatory reporter to provide authorities with information of suspected child abuse—did not show that Megan's statements at the hospital were made for the primary purpose of prosecuting Ramirez. (Pet-App. 42 n.10.)

For these and other reasons discussed in the decision, the court of appeals properly concluded that Ramirez's statements to an ER nurse and doctor in being treated for a sexual assault were not testimonial. Review is not warranted.

F. Ramirez seeks only error correction in asking this Court to accept review to address the court of appeals' conclusion that the trial court's order prohibiting impeachment of Dr. Schellpfeffer with the grant of immunity, if error, was harmless.

Finally, the court of appeals properly concluded that, assuming that the trial court erred in prohibiting cross-examination of Dr. Schellpfeffer's grant of immunity from prosecution for not reporting the 1998 injuries as suspected child abuse, the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (Pet-App. 51–52.) But even if defense counsel had undermined Dr. Schellpfeffer's own credibility with such questions, his testimony about the likely cause of Megan's 1998 injury was duplicated by two other doctors who examined the medical reports. (Pet-App. 53.)

The error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt for this reason and others stated in the court of appeals decision. (Pet-App. 51–53.) Review is inappropriate on this issue because Ramirez seeks only error correction.

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review.